COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II

2016 MAR 31 AM 10: 35

STATE OF WASHINGTON

TEPLITY

COA No. 48501-0-II Trial No. 10-2-00115-0

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WESLEY R. HANNIGAN, Respondent,
v.
VIT NOVAK & ZDENKA NOVAK, Appellant

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Vit Novak Pro Se

Appellant

1041 Wildlife Drive Washougal WA 98671, 503 469-6176

##

### II. Assignments of Error

#### **Assignments of Error**

- 1. The Skamania District Trial Court clerk and Deputy prosecuting attorney McGill obstructed justice by hiding the *State of Washington vs. Hannigan* stipulation from the Novaks in Sept 2010 to benefit plaintiff Mr. Hannigan.
- 2. The Trial Court erred in continuing the case when Plaintiff filed a Declaration of Wesley Hannigan Regarding Status Report on 04-26-2013.
- 3. The Trial Court erred in denying the Defendant's 04-08-2015 *Motion for CR-11 Sanctions* on the 04-30-2015 hearing date.
- 4. The Trial Court erred in not striking Plaintiff's 04-28-2015 Response to Defendants Motion for CR-11 Sanctions.
- 5. The Trial Court erred in entering the ORDER for the Plaintiff's Response to Defendants Motion for CR-11 Sanctions on 05-28-

- 6. The Trial Court erred in the denying the Defendant's Response to Plaintiff's Note for Trial and Statement of Arbitrability on 05-28-2015
- 7. The Trial Court erred in the denying the Defendant's *Objection to Plaintiff's ER-904* on 08-13-2015.
- 8. The Trial Court erred in the denying the Defendant's the right to present witnesses at the 08-26-2015 trial in their defense and allowing Plaintiff's felony perjury on a material fact.
- 9. The Trial Court erred in entering the JUDGMENT AND ORDER of December 3 2015, denying defendant's Response to Plaintiff's Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law filed on November 30, 2015.
- 10. The Trial Court erred in entering the JUDGMENT AND ORDER of December 3, 2015, denying defendant's *Motion to Prove*

Jurisdiction filed on November 30, 2015.

- 11. The Trial Court erred by lying to the Defendants about court records on Dec 21 2015 and December 29<sup>th</sup> 2015.
- 12. The Trial Court erred in entering the AMENDED JUDGMENT AND ORDER of January 14<sup>th</sup> 2016, denying Defendant's Response to Plaintiffs Motion to Supplement Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Money Judgment.

#### Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

1. The State of Washington vs. Hannigan stay of prosecution and stipulation was filed with the District Court Clerk on September 9th 2010. In that stipulation, Defendant Mr. Hannigan stipulates that the facts in Officer Rasmussen's police report are true. The police report says no driveway was blocked and the police cruiser was able to enter and exit Mr. Hannigan's property. The police report that Mr. Hannigan stipulated to further states that Mr. Hannigan blocked the Novaks escape routes with a bulldozer, trespassed on their property and assaulted them. After Mr.

Hannigan, now a Plaintiff, sued crime victims, the Novaks, they hired attorney Brad Andersen to defend them. The Novaks knew that Mr. Hannigan had been cited for disorderly conduct. They told their attorney Mr. Andresen and he went to get records about the case.

Mr. Andersen, the Novaks' attorney was not able to find any documents with the clerk even though the stipulation and stay was stamped filed on Sept 9 2010. Mr. Andersen went to Deputy Prosecuting attorney McGill and he had nothing either. Mr. Andresen used the police reports only. Plaintiff Mr. Hannigan filed his case against the Novaks the next day. The Novaks only learned of the Stay and Stipulation many years later.

Was this act obstruction of justice and fraud upon the Court by Mr. Hannigan, The District Court, and his attorney Mr. Foley in order to commit perjury and sue crime victims? Does the Trial Court lose jurisdiction due to the type of criminal conduct that violates the Defendants right to due process?

2. The Trial Court Clerk mailed a notice on 03-28-2013 to the

attorneys for dismissal of the case for want of prosecution under CR-41 (b)(2). The Plaintiff's attorney Mr. Foley did not serve or provide proof of service to the Defendants for Plaintiff's 04-26-2013 Declaration of Wesley Hannigan Regarding Status Report to extend the case.

As a result the case was extended without the Defendants knowing. Did the Trial Court error by not dismissing the case outright when CR-5(a) requires service? Did the Trial Court lose jurisdiction? Were the Defendant's Constitutional rights to due process violated? Can the Appellate Court throw out the Judgment and ORDER?

3. The Trial Court Clerk mailed <u>another notice</u> on 03-09-2015 to the Plaintiff and now pro-se Defendants for dismissal of the case for want of prosecution under CR-41 (b)(2). In response the Defendants filed the motion for CR-11 sanctions.

Did Trial Court error in denying the Defendant's 04-08-2015

Motion for CR-11 Sanctions on the 04-30-2015 hearing date? Was

Plaintiffs case frivolous due to the argument that under legal canon

a criminal cannot benefit from their crimes? When a court filing is hidden and is discovered years later, can Defendants still win on the argument that criminals cannot benefit from their crimes? Was Plaintiff's case frivolous due to his failure to prosecute the case for years? Was the Plaintiff's case for an improper purpose given the fact that Plaintiff was under stay of prosecution and stipulated to facts that prove he perjured himself in his civil case? Should the case have been dismissed as Defendants request due to lack of service in Plaintiff's 04-26-2013 Declaration of Wesley Hannigan Regarding Status Report? Does every pleading, motion and legal memorandum have to be signed by an attorney as required by CR-11? Can a paralegal practice law including reviewing documents and filing them with the Trial Court without a lawyer's oversight? Was the fact that the Plaintiff already filed an improper TRO. combined with his failure to prosecute the case, combined with the lack of service frivolous?

4. Did the Trial Court error in entering the ORDER for the Plaintiff's *Response to Defendants Motion for CR-11 Sanctions* on 05-28-2015? Does a Plaintiff's motion have to be served on opposing party with proof of service? If opposing party discovers

service and proof of service was not done, should their motion to strike be granted?

- 5. Did the Trial Court error in entering the ORDER for the Plaintiff's Response to Defendants Motion for CR-11 Sanctions on 05-28-2015? If a motion is not served on opposing party can Plaintiff get an ORDER against the opposing party assuming it is not a properly filed ex-parte TRO motion? Can a lawyer hand deliver his motion to the Trial Court Judge directly without serving it to the opposing party? Can a lawyer hand deliver a letter to the Trial Court Judge that says "Thank you for your kind attention in this matter. If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact me" without serving it to the opposing party? Does conduct violate the Judicial Code of Conduct and WSBA Rules of Professional Conduct?
- 6. The Trial Court erred in the denying the Defendant's Response to Plaintiff's Note for Trial and Statement of Arbitrability on 05-28-2015. Can Plaintiff in a Quiet Title case which is in equity seek attorney costs and surveyor costs whilst saying arbitration does not apply due to the lack of monetary award?

- 7. The Trial Court erred in the denying the Defendant's Objection to Plaintiff's ER-904 on 08-13-2015. Does the plaintiff lose the ER-904 evidence by not responding to the objection to ER-904 either at the hearing and trial? If the Trial Court denies a party to present the and the Plaintiff does not offer the complementary evidence under ER 106 s the objected evidence admissible?
- 8. The Trial Court erred in the denying the Defendant's the right to present witnesses at the 08-26-2015 trial in their defense and allowing Plaintiff's felony perjury on a material fact. Does the fact that the Plaintiff perjured himself on a material facts, perjured in the interrogatories on material fact? Can a plaintiff's lawyer and plaintiff knowingly lie in court on material fact?
- 9. The Trial Court erred in entering the JUDGMENT AND ORDER of December 3 2015, denying defendant's Response to Plaintiff's Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law filed on November 30, 2015? If a plaintiff perjures himself on all material facts at trial and defendants have proof beyond a reasonable doubt, must the judgment and order be overturned when this is

discovered? If a plaintiff makes up all his claims does he have a case upon which relief can be granted? If the Judge makes mistakes on material fact is the trial court required to correct it?

10. The Trial Court erred in entering the JUDGMENT AND ORDER of December 3, 2015, denying defendant's *Motion to Prove Jurisdiction* filed on November 30, 2015.

Does the Trial Court lose jurisdiction when it fails to enter the Judgment and ORDER within 90 days? RCW 2.08.240 CR-52(e)

- 11. The Trial Court erred by lying to the Defendants about court records on Dec 21 2015 and December 29<sup>th</sup> 2015?
- 12. The Trial Court erred in entering the AMENDED

  JUDGMENT AND ORDER of January 14<sup>th</sup> 2016, denying

  Defendant's *Response to Plaintiffs Motion to Supplement*. Does the Court have have jurisdiction to enter the judgment after all time limits expire? Is the Judgment null and void?

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

# Mr. Hannigan's' Criminal Case in State of Washington vs. Hannigan

Mr. Hannigan was criminally cited for disorderly conduct in State of Washington vs. Hannigan [CP pg. 387]. Mr. Hannigan's victims were Mr. and Mrs. Novak.

On September 9<sup>th</sup> 2010 Mr. Hannigan and his attorney Mr.

Thomas Foley signed the *STIPULATED MOTION ORDER FOR STAY OF PROCEEDS AND STIPULATION TO FACTS* in *State of Washington vs. Hannigan*. [CP pg. 384-386]

Mr. Hannigan stipulated to the facts in police report. Point 5 reads: "The defendant hereby stipulates to the admissibility of the facts contained in the police reports upon which the charge in this matter is based and acknowledges that such statements can be entered and used to support a finding of guilty if the court finds cause to revoke the order for stay of proceedings." [CP pg. 385]

The facts in Officer Rasmussen's report were:

A. Police Officer Rasmussen had not trouble driving through with his patrol vehicle AND; [CP pg. 391]

- B. Mr. Hannigan assaulted Mr. Novak with his bulldozer AND; [CP pg. 390]
- C. Mr. Hannigan trespassed with his bulldozer on the Novak's property with his bulldozer AND; [CP pg. 390]
- D. Mr. Hannigan excavated on the Novaks property with his bulldozer AND; [CP pg. 390]
- E. Mr. Hannigan refused to remove bulldozer from the Novak's property. [CP pg. 390]

# Overview of Mr. Hannigan's' lawsuit against Mr. and Mrs. Novak

Mr. Hannigan and his attorney Thomas Foley sued his victims the Novaks on Sept 10th 2010 [CP pg. 10-11], the very next day after the entry of the *stipulation and stay* in *State of Washington vs. Hannigan*. Mr. Hannigan's claims in the Wesley R Hannigan vs. Vit and Zdenka Novak lawsuit are (see complaint): [CP pg. 1-9]

A. That the Novaks blocked Mr. Hannigan's driveway to his lot #8 AND;

B. That the Novaks pulled land survey monuments from their own property that Mr. Hannigan hired a surveyor to set. Specifically, Plaintiff Mr. Hannigan's original filing under the "first cause of action"

(quiet title)" section 2.5 asserts: "Plaintiff subsequently hired

Hagedorn Surveyors to locate the boundaries of the easement.

Within approximately 12 hours of marking the easement by the surveyor, plaintiff noticed some of the pins were pulled or obliterated." AND; [CP pg. 2]

C. That Mr. Hannigan had a 20-foot easement through the Novaks property. [CP pg. 2]

After Mr. Hannigan filed this lawsuit, the Novaks hired Mr. Brad Andersen to defend them. Mr. Andersen went to the District Court to get any information and papers related to State of Washington vs. Hannigan [CP pg.23-59]. He did not find any. Mr. Andersen then went to the prosecutor's office and returned with nothing. Finally Mr. Andersen only got the police reports from the police. Those police reports are in exhibit F of the Defendant's DECLERATION OF VIT NOVAK IN SUPPORT OF DEFENDANTS' RESPONSE TO PLAINTIFF"S MOTION FOR RESTRAINING ORDER. Exhibit E in that declaration is a picture of Mr. Hannigan's assault with a bulldozer. [CP pg. 23-59]

From this point on in this STATEMENT OF THE CASE,

"Plaintiff" refers to Mr. Hannigan and "Defendants" refer to Mr. and Mrs. Novak.

The Trial Court Clerk mailed a notice on 03-28-2013 to the attorneys for dismissal of the case for want of prosecution under CR-41 (b)(2) [CP pg. 111]. The Plaintiff's attorney Mr. Foley did not serve or provide proof of service to the Defendants for Plaintiff's 04-26-2013 *Declaration of Wesley Hannigan Regarding Status Report* to extend the case. [CP pg. 112-114]

Defendant's attorney Brad Andersen filed a Notice of Appearance with the Trial Court on 06-27-2013. In that notice of appearance Mr. Andersen did not waive objection for service or objection to Jurisdiction. [CP pg. 115-117]

Defendants asked their attorney Mr. Andersen to do discovery and depositions. In response he filed a notice to attorney's intent withdraw on September 23 2013 and it was granted on October 17<sup>th</sup> 2013. [CP pg. 118-120]

The Trial Court Clerk mailed another notice on 03-09-2015 to

the Plaintiff and now pro-se Defendants for dismissal of the case for want of prosecution under CR-41 (b)(2). [CP pg. 126]

#### **Defendant Novak's Motion for CR-11 Sanctions**

The Defendant's filed a *Motion for CR-11 Sanctions* with the Trial Court on 04-08-2015. [CP pg. 127-132] The hearing date was on 04-30-2015. The Defendants <u>argued</u> in their CR-11 motion that:

- A. Plaintiff committed crimes against the Defendants in this matter and criminals cannot benefit from their crimes.
- B. Plaintiff's case frivolous due to his failure to prosecute the case for years.
- C. That Plaintiff's case was filed for an improper purpose given the fact that Plaintiff was under stay of prosecution and stipulated to facts that prove he perjured himself in his civil case.
- D. The case should be dismissed due to lack of service and proof of service to the Defendants in Plaintiff's 04-26-2013

  Declaration of Wesley Hannigan Regarding Status Report
- E. Defendants argued an attorney as required by CR-11 must sign every pleading, motion and legal memorandum. Plaintiff's attorney did not sign the 04-26-2013 *Declaration of Wesley*

Hannigan Regarding Status Report

- F. Defendants argued that a paralegal cannot practice law including reviewing documents and filing them with the Trial Court without a lawyer's oversight. Plaintiff's attorney's paralegal filed and reviewed the 04-26-2013 Declaration of Wesley Hannigan Regarding Status Report.
- G. Defendants argued Plaintiff already filed an improper TRO, combined with his failure to prosecute the case, combined with the lack of service made the case frivolous.

The Trial Court denied the Defendant's Motion for CR-11 sanctions. [CP 165-167]

## Plaintiff's Response to Defendants Motion for CR-11 Sanctions

The Plaintiff's hand delivered a document titled "Response to Defendants Motion for CR-11 Sanctions" directly to the Trial Court Judge Brian Altman. [CP 137-139] In the cover letter of that document he hand delivered Mr. Foley wrote: "Thank you for your kind attention in this matter. If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact me". Plaintiff attorney Mr. Foley filed this with the Trial Court but did not serve Defendants nor did he file

proof of service.

Trial Court Judge found for the Plaintiff and entered ORDER on 05-28-2015. The ORDER sanctioned the Defendants \$250 for the making the CR-11 motion. [CP pg. 165-167]

# Defendant's *Response to* Plaintiff's Note for Trial and Statement of Arbitrability on 05-28-2015

The Trial Court denied the Defendant's Response to Plaintiff's Note for Trial and Statement of Arbitrability on 05-28-2015. [CP pg. 144-154]

#### Defendant's Objection to Plaintiff's ER-904

The Trial Court denied the Defendant's *Objection to Plaintiff's ER-904* on 08-13-2015. [CP pg. 267-281] The Trial Court Judge did not read through them and dismissed them outright with the Judge stating that it they be brought up at trial.

### Plaintiff's Response to Defendants Interrogatories

The Defendants sent interrogatories and sent them to the Plaintiff. Plaintiff filed with the Trail Court on 08-19-2015 the

following answers: [CP pg. 288-311]

1.) Interrogatory/Request: "Which, when and by whom were the survey markers -that were allegedly obliterated- placed in ground for the first time?"

**Response**: July 16, 2010. Greg Brown of Hagedorn Engineering and Survey."

2) Interrogatory/Request: "Provide the survey record of the initial placement for the markers"

Response: Please see, attached, Exhibit 1.

3) Interrogatory/Request: Which, when (provide a time-frame) and by whom (provide their first and last names) were the survey markers obliterated?"

Response: Investigation suggests that Vit Novak obliterated the survey markers shortly after the survey was made.

4) Interrogatory/Request: Did a surveyor or Surveyors communicate to Mr. Hannigan that survey markers were indeed obliterated? Please provide their names, dates they visited and their findings.

Response: No.

**16.) Interrogatory/Request:** Did Mr. Hannigan ever block the road or the Novak's drive way"

Response: Investigation says no.

20.) Interrogatory/Request: Did Mr. Hannigan trespassed with a

bulldozer on the Novak's free- and-clear property outside the

easement area?

Response: Investigation says no.

21.) Interrogatory/Request: Did Mr. Hannigan assault Mr. Novak

or any family members on Mr. Novak's property or the Maple View

road?"

Response: Investigation says no."

22.) Interrogatory/Request: Did Mr. Hannigan ever trespass on

Mr. Novak's property?

Response: Investigation says no.

In, Plaintiff's response to Defendant's interrogators and Requests

for Production", Plaintiff Mr. Hannigan provided Hagedorn invoice

No. 24735 dated August 16th 2010 that shows professional

services for the period of 7/11/2015 through 8/31/2015. In that

invoice "site visit to verify property corners had not been removed"

24

is listed as item 3. Plaintiff Hannigan paid 4,005.50 dollars for the service.

#### The Trial

At trial, Plaintiff Mr. Hannigan's land surveyor, Gregory Brown, testified that no land surveyor monuments were pulled [RP Vol I pg. 114-118]. Land surveyor Gregory Brown further testified that both he and Mr. Hannigan together observed this fact before he filed his lawsuit against the Novaks.

Defendant Mr. Novak argued Plaintiff had no deed, not quitclaim, no grantor or grantee to either Plaintiff or his lot #8 for a 20-foot easement through the Novaks property. Defendant cited 53 Wash. 646, 102 P. 756 SEYMOUR V. DUFUR (S. Ct. 1909) that Plaintiff must win a quiet ejectment-title claim on the strength of his own title if at all.

#### JUDGMENT AND ORDER

Defendant's Response to Plaintiff's Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law The Trial Court entered the JUDGMENT AND ORDER [CP pg. 418-420] on December 3 2015, denying the Defendant's *Response to Plaintiff's Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law* [CP 366-398] filed on November 30, 2015. In that document the Defendants argued that the Plaintiff's findings of fact and conclusion of law do not match the actual facts:

- 1. That the Land Surveyor testified that no survey monuments were pulled or obliterated [RP VOL I pg. 114-118] and that Plaintiff knew this when he filed his lawsuit
- 2. That Plaintiff Mr. Hannigan stipulated in State of Washington vs. Hannigan to assault, trespass, and the fact that his driveway access was not blocked [CP pg. 391]. Mr. Plaintiff lied in the Plaintiff's response to Defendant's Interrogatories [CP pg. 288-311]. The Defendants argued this was perjury on material facts.
- 3. The Defendants argued that The Washington Supreme Court ruled in 53 Wash. 646, 102 P. 756 SEYMOUR V. DUFUR (S. Ct. 1909) that quiet title claims can be won on the strength of a title and the Plaintiff never presented his deed, plat, quitclaim, or title at trial in regard to Plaintiff's claim of having a 20-foot easement through Defendant's property.

#### **Defendant's Motion to Prove Jurisdiction**

The Trial Court entered the JUDGMENT AND ORDER of December 3 2015 [CP pg. 418-420], denying the Defendant's *Motion to Prove Jurisdiction* filed on November 30, 2015 [CP pg. 399-400]. The Defendants argued that the Judge loses jurisdiction when it fails to enter the Judgment and ORDER within 90 days. Defendant cited RCW 2.08.240 and CR-52(e).

#### Trial Court Clerk Obstruction regarding filed documents

The Trial Court committed obstruction by lying to the Defendants about court records when Defendants inquired if anything new was filed on Dec 21 2015 and December 29<sup>th</sup> 2015. Defendant Mr.

Novak via telephone on Dec 21 2015 and via email on Dec 29<sup>th</sup> 2015 that nothing was filed past line 83 when in fact Plaintiff's 

Motion For Order To Show Cause: Contempt (line 85) and Plaintiffs 
Motion to Supplement Findings & Judgment (line 84) were both 
stamped filed on December 21 2015.

#### AMENDED JUDGMENT AND ORDER

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