COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II

2016 MAY -2 AH 11: 18

NO. 48501-0-II

STATE OF WASHINGTON

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

EPUTY

VIT NOVAK & ZDENKA NOVAK,

Appellants,

٧.

WESLEY R. HANNIGAN,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT WESLEY R. HANNIGAN

> Thomas J. Foley (WSBA No. 17054) 1419 Broadway P.O. Box 609 Vancouver, WA 98666 (360) 696-8990 thomasfoleypc@hotmail.com

Attorney for Respondent Wesley R. Hannigan

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

alleged in any way how they were prejudiced in this case, even if certain Skamania County officials, in a wholly separate matter, did withhold these documents.

B. Appellants' Argument is Without Support

In support of their argument Appellants cite only to *Wallace*v. Kato (2007) 549 U.S. 384. Appellants make no effort to link this case to their argument, and such an effort would be a pointless exercise. This case has nothing to do with Appellants' allegation, and therefore their argument that all or a portion of the Trial Court's decision should be overturned because certain Skamania County judicial officials allegedly failed to provide them with a document of public record, which has little to no bearing on the issues at trial, is wholly without support or merit.

II. The Trial Court did not Err in Failing to Dismiss the Case after Respondent Filed the *Declaration of Wesley Hannigan*Regarding Status Report on April 26, 2013

Appellants contend that because the status report sent to the Trial Court in response to a notice sent pursuant to CR 41(b)(2)(A) (CP 112-114) was not served upon Appellant, the Trial Court lost jurisdiction and the Trial Court's holding should be overturned. (Appellate Brief, at 11.)

A. The Status Report was not Required to be Served

Contrary to Appellants' contention, the Status Report did not need to be served on them. CR 41, discussing the involuntary dismissal of cases by the court clerk and the status report at issue, makes no mention of any service requirement. Furthermore, CR 5. which discusses the required service of pleadings and other papers, only requires the service of "every pleading subsequent to the original complaint..., every paper relating to discovery..., every written motion..., and every written notice, appearance, demand, offer of judgment, designation of record on appeal, and similar paper[s]..." The status report contemplated by CR 41(b)(2)(A) does not fall into any of the categories of documents required to be served upon opposing parties listed in CR 5. Furthermore, Appellants point to no other court rule, statute, or rule of law which requires service of the status report on them. Therefore, the Trial Court did not err in failing to dismiss the case.

B. Even if the Status Report was Required to be Served, This

Err is not within the Scope of the Review

RAP 2.4(a) sets out the scope of the appellate court's review; that scope includes "the decision or parts of the decision designated in the notice of appeal..." The notice of appeal in this

matter concerns only "the Amended Judgment and Order." The decision of the clerk's office, if it can even be called a decision, to not dismiss the case for want of prosecution is not part of the "Amended Judgment and Order," and is thus outside the scope of the appellate court's review.

RAP 2.4(b) sets out the test for determining whether a decision outside of the scope of RAP 2.4(a) is within the scope of review. RAP 2.4(b) states, in part: "The appellate court will review a trial court order or ruling not designated in the notice, including an appealable order, if (1) the order or ruling prejudicially affects the decision designated in the notice, and (2) the order is entered, or the ruling is made, before the appellate court accepts review." In this case, the clerk's office's failure to dismiss this case for want of prosecution had no effect on the eventual decision and order included in the notice of appeal. Therefore, the decision and order was not prejudiced, and RAP 2.4(b) does not apply.

Appellants have pointed to no other court rule, statute, or rule of law which places the decision of the clerk's office to not dismiss this case for want of prosecution, and therefore the appellate court should not disturb it.

C. Even if the Status Report was Required to be Served, the

Failure of the Clerk's Office to Dismiss this Case for Want of

Prosecution is not a Decision Subject to Review

The decision of the clerk's office to not dismiss the case for lack of prosecution, if it can even be called a decision, is not appealable. RAP 2.2 lists the actions by a Trial Court which are subject to appeal—a failure of the Trial Court to dismiss a case for want of prosecution is not a final judgment or any of the other listed actions. A "final judgment" is "a final determination of the rights of the parties in [an] action." (Seattle-First Nat'l Bank v. Marshall (1976) 16 Wash.App. 503, 507.) A refusal to dismiss a party involved in an action does not constitute a final and appealable decision. (Glass v. Stahl Specialty Company (1982) 97 Wn.2d 880, 883.) Therefore, this Court should not overturn the Trial Court's decision because the clerk's office did not dismiss this case for want of prosecution.

III. The Trial Court did not Err in Denying Appellants'
Motion for CR 11 Sanctions on the April 30, 2015 Hearing Date

Appellants argue that their motion for sanctions under CR 11 was improperly denied by the Trial Court because (1) the status report filed by Respondent on April 26, 2013 (CP 112-114), filed in

response to the notice from the Court sent pursuant to CR 41(b)(2)(A), was not signed by the Respondent's attorney; (2) the status report was not served on Appellants; (3) the signature of Lori Mattsen, assistant for Respondent's attorney Thomas Foley, on the status report constitutes the illegal practice of law; and (4) allowing Respondent to continue to pursue his case against Appellants would constitute a criminal benefitting from his crimes. As will be discussed below, these claims are completely without merit.

A. The Status Report Filed by Respondent on April 30, 2015

was not Required to be Signed by Respondent's Attorney

CR 11 requires only that "every pleading, motion, and legal memorandum of a party represented by an attorney be dated and signed by at least one attorney of record." The document at issue is a status report, submitted pursuant to the terms of CR 41(b)(2)(A). That status report is not a pleading¹, motion, or legal memorandum, and is, thus, not required to be signed by an attorney of record pursuant to CR 11. Furthermore, nothing in CR 41 requires the

¹ CR 7(a) lists the pleadings allowed to be submitted to a trial court; these documents include: a complaint, answer, reply to a counterclaim, and an answer to a cross claim. As a status report is not included in CR 7(a)'s list of authorized pleadings, but is a document that is authorized to be filed pursuant to CR 41, the status report does not constitute a pleading.

status report to be signed by an attorney of record. Therefore, this argument of Appellants' is without merit.

- B. The Status Report Filed by Respondent on April 30, 2015
 was not Required to be Served on Appellant
 See argument in Section II(A) of this brief.
- C. Lori Mattsen was not Engaging in the Illegal Practice of Law
 The status report at issue was submitted to the Trial Court
 via fax. GR 17 contains the procedure for filing a document via fax.
 GR 17(a)(2) states, in part: "the person responsible for the filing
 must attach an original affidavit as the last page of the document.
 The affidavit must bear the name of the court, case caption, case
 number, the name of the document to be filed, and a statement that
 the individual signing the affidavit has examined the document,
 determined that it consists of a stated number of pages, including
 the affidavit page, and that it is complete and legible." In this case,
 Ms. Mattsen was simply filling out an affidavit that complied with the
 terms of GR 17(a)(2). (CP 114.) Filing such an affidavit pursuant to
 GR 17 does not constitute the illegal practice of law. Therefore, this
 argument of Appellants' is without merit.

D. The Trial Court was not Allowing Respondent to Benefit from

His Crimes by Failing to Dismiss the Case for Want of

Prosecution

Simply put, Respondent did not benefit in any way, shape, or form, and certainly not in the case at hand, from any crime he is alleged to have committed. The crimes Appellants assert were committed by Respondent, and which allegedly helped him win this lawsuit, are assault with a bulldozer and trespass. (Appellants Brief at 39.) These alleged crimes, or the effects of these alleged crimes, had no impact on the Trial Court's decision, and Appelants' brief contains no analysis linking the Trial Court's decision to these alleged crimes. Respondent, in fact, has never been convicted of assault or trespass; Appellants' claims that these crimes were committed are false and not supported by the evidence.

Appellants' claim here is completely unsupported. Appellants pair their baseless allegations simply with the citation of a legal maxim from Black's Law Dictionary and two century-old cases from the state of New York. (Appellant Brief at 38-39.) These cases are not relevant, or at all comparable, to even the alleged crimes. The first of these *Riggs v. Palmer* (1889) 115 NY 506, involved a man who murdered his grandfather in order to take advantage of certain

provisions in his grandfather's will to the benefit of himself. The second of these, *Van Alstyne v. Tuffy* (1918) 103 Misc. 455 concerns the execution of the will of a man who murdered his wife; in that case the Court prevented the heirs of the man from inheriting the property that had once been held by the marital community. The facts of those cases are a clear and far cry from the facts of the case at hand, have not been linked through any analysis, by Appellants, to the facts of the case at hand, and are clearly irrelevant.

E. Review of the Trial Court's Decision on Appellants' CR 11

Motion is Outside the Scope of Review

See argument in Section II(B) of this brief. The Trial Court's decision on the Appellants' CR 11 motion was not designated in the notice of appeal, and therefore, under RAP 2.4(a) that decision is not appealable. Furthermore, RAP 2.4(b) would not bring this decision within the appellate court's scope of review, as the decision did not prejudicially affect the decision in the notice of review—Appellants' CR 11 motion sought only sanctions for Respondent's attorney and attorneys' fees, which would have had no effect on the decision in the notice of appeal had they been granted.

F. The Trial Court's Denial of Appellants' CR 11 Motion is not an Appealable Decision

See argument in Section II(C) of this brief. A ruling on a CR 11 motion is not one of the enumerated appealable decisions set out in RAP 2.2. Furthermore, the decision is not a "final judgment". The denial of Appellants' CR 11 motion only prevented Respondent's attorney from being sanctioned, a matter wholly removed from the rights of the parties fought over in the matter. Therefore, the denial of the Appellants' CR 11 motion is not an appealable decision.

IV. The Trial Court did not Err in not Striking Respondent's Response to Appellants' Motion for CR 11 Sanctions

Appellants argue the Trial Court erred because
Respondent's response to Appellants' motion for CR 11 sanctions
was not served on Appellants. See argument in Section II(A) of this
brief. A response to a motion is not required to be served on the
opposing party under CR 5. Furthermore, Respondent's response
did not contain any evidence which can be stricken, and did not
contain any arguments that could not have come up at oral
argument without a written response. Therefore, the Trial Court did

not err by failing to strike Respondent's response to Appellants' motion for CR 11 sanctions.

V. The Trial Court did not Err in Entering It's Order
 Regarding Appellants' Motion for CR 11 Sanctions on May 28,
 2015

Appellants argue that the Trial Court erred in entering its order on Appellants' motion for CR 11 sanctions because (1) Respondent's motion was not properly served on the opposing parties; (2) Respondent hand delivered his motion to the judge without serving it on all parties; and (3) Respondent's attorney hand delivered a letter to the Trial Judge in court, and this violated the Judicial Rules of Conduct and WSBA Rules of Professional Conduct. These claims are completely without merit, as will be discussed below.

A. Respondent did not File any Motion which was the

Subject of the Trial Court's Order Filed on May 28,

2015

Contrary to Appellants' claim, Respondent did not file any motion that was heard by the Trial Court and ruled upon in the Order filed on May 28, 2015. Appellants are likely referring to Respondent's response to Appellants' motion for CR 11 sanctions.

Respondent's Response to Appellants' Motion for CR
 11 Sanctions did not Need to be Served on
 Appellants

See argument in Section II(A) of this brief. A response to a motion is not required to be served on the opposing party under CR 5.

C. Even if Respondent's Reply to Appellants' Motion for

CR 11 Sanctions did Need to be Served on

Appellants, Appellants have Waived their Argument

by not Citing to an Authority

Appellants did not, and cannot, point to any rule of law stating that failure to serve a party with a reply to their motion constitutes reversible error to an order subsequently entered denying the relief requested in the motion. No such rule exists. An appellant waives an assignment of error where they fail to cite any authority supporting their logic. (*Lodis v. Corbis Holdings, Inc.* (2015) 192 Wn.App. 30, 64 at fn. 17; *Skagit County Pub. Hosp. Dist. No. 1 v. Dep't of* Revenue (2010) 158 Wn.App. 426, 440.) Therefore, the Appellants have not shown that any failure of service constitutes reversible error, and have waived their argument.

D. Respondent's Hand Delivery of Their Reply to the

Trial Judge, as Well as a Cover Letter, does not

Constitute a Violation of any Rules of Professional

Conduct

CJC Rule 2.9 states, in part: "A judge shall not initiate, permit, or consider ex parte communications, or consider other communications made to the judge *outside the presence of the parties or their lawyers*, concerning a pending or impending matter, before that judge's court...(emphasis added)". Respondent's reply to Appellant's Motion for CR 11 sanctions was filed with the Court, and was thus a document of public record. (CP at 137.)

Furthermore, as can be told by the fact that Appellants know what was written in the letter, the communication was made within their presence, and they were aware of the contents. (*See* Appellants Brief at 13 and 21.) Therefore, CJC Rule 2.9 Was not violated, and the Appellants' argument is without merit.

VI. The Trial Court did not Err in Denying the Appellants'
Response to Respondent's Notice for Trial and Statement of
Arbitrability on May 28, 2015

Appellants make no clear or coherent arguments in their assertion that the Trial Court erred in denying their response to

Respondent's notice to set for trial and statement of arbitrability.

Appellants' response to Respondent's notice for trial and statement of arbitrability (entitled "Defendants' response to notice to set trial" on the actual filing) (CP 144-154) is a rather peculiar and unnecessary filing containing little to no coherent legal arguments.

This Court should find that the Trial Court did not err in denying this filing for the reasons set forth below.

A. The Trial Court's Denial of Appellants' Response to

Respondent's Notice for Trial and Statement of

Arbitrability is not Within the Scope of Review

See argument in Sections II(B) of this brief. The Trial Court's decision to deny Appellants' response to Respondent's notice for trial and statement of arbitrability, if it can even be called a denial or a decision, was not included in the notice of appeal and would, therefore, be outside the scope of review under RAP 2.4(a). Furthermore, Trial Court's decision to deny Appellants' response to Respondent's notice for trial and statement of arbitrability, if it can even be called a denial or a decision, would be outside the scope of review under RAP 2.4(b) because its denial did not prejudice Appellant because it was a peculiar filing with no legal effect.

B. The Trial Court's Denial of Appellants' Response to

Respondent's Notice for Trial and Statement of

Arbitrability is not an Appealable Decision

See argument in Section II(C) of this brief. An order denying a response, if it can even be called a denial, to a notice for trial and statement of arbitrability is not one of the enumerated appealable decisions in RAP 2.2. Furthermore, the Trial Court's decision, if it can even be called that, denying Appellants' response to Respondent's notice for trial and statement of arbitrability is not in any sense a final judgment, as it did not determine any rights of either party. Therefore, this Court should decline to review this decision, if it can even be called that, of the Trial Court.

VII. The Trial Court did not Err in Denying Appellants' Objections to Respondent's ER 904 Submissions on August 13, 2015

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